The Fracking Endgame

Locked Into Plastics, Pollution and Climate Chaos



About Food & Water Watch

c ood & Water Watch mobilizes regular people to build political power to move bold and uncompromised solutions to the most pressing food, water, and climate problems of our time. We work to protect people's health, communities, and democracy from the growing destructive power of the most powerful economic interests.

Food & Water Watch has state and regional offices across the country to help engage concerned citizens on the issues they care about. For the most up-to-date contact information for our field offices, visit *foodandwaterwatch.org*.

National Office

1616 P Street, NW Suite 300 Washington, DC 20036 (202) 683-2500

Oakland, California

155 Grand Avenue Suite 905 Oakland, CA 94612 (510) 922-0720

Colorado

1801 N. Williams Street Suite 400 Denver, CO 80218 (720) 449-7505

New Mexico

7804 Pan American East Freeway NE #2 Albuquerque, NM 87109 (505) 633-7366

Oregon

2009 NE Alberta Street Suite 207 Portland, Oregon 97211 (971) 266-4528

Los Angeles, California

915 Wilshire Boulevard Suite 2125 Los Angeles, CA 90017 (323) 843-8450

Florida 2655 6th Avenue South Suite 200 St. Petersburg, FL 33712 (954) 687-9224

New York 32 Court Street Suite 1506 Brooklyn, NY 11201 (347) 778-2743

Santa Barbara, California

222 E. Canon Perdido Street Suite 207C Santa Barbara, CA 93101 (323) 843-8456

Maryland 3121 St. Paul Street Suite 28 Baltimore, MD 21218 (410) 394-7650

Illinois 670 W. Hubbard Street Suite 300 Chicago, IL 60654 (773) 796-6086

Ventura, California 940 E. Santa Clara Street Suite 202 Ventura, CA 93001 (805) 507-5083

New Jersey 100 Bayard Street Suite 202 New Brunswick, NJ 08901 (732) 839-0860

Pennsylvania

1501 Cherry Street Second Floor Philadelphia, PA 19102 (267) 428-1903



Fight like you live here.

Copyright © **June 2019 by Food & Water Watch.** All rights reserved. This report can be viewed or downloaded at **foodandwaterwatch.org**.

Letter From Wenonah Hauter Executive Director, Food & Water Watch



n 2009, when few outside of the fossil fuel industry had heard the term "fracking," we at Food & Water Watch began to receive many questions from our supporters about its impact on water resources. Over the next two years, we took a close look at this burgeoning oil and gas drilling technique that was suddenly reshaping rural landscapes, and reshaping America's energy landscape as well. What we found was startling: fracking posed an immense threat to drinking water, and had already caused serious

contamination events and subsequent human health impacts in numerous states across the country. So, in 2011, we did the prudent thing: we called for a ban on fracking everywhere, becoming the first national organization in America to take this bold, uncompromised stand.

By 2015, scores of studies and reports had been published confirming all kinds of hazards and threats associated with fracking: drinking water contamination with cancer-causing chemicals like benzene; air pollution that poses respiratory health risks, especially to children with asthma; accidents and explosions; toxic waste accumulation; and even increased crime rates in areas where fracking was booming. Soon, studies were connecting low-birthweight babies with proximity to fracking sites. But perhaps most alarming was the mounting evidence of fracking's impact on our climate. Natural gas, touted as a "bridge fuel" to a clean energy future, was actually helping to tip the scales of climate stability past the point of no return. Fracked gas was found to be a climate killer.

Now, as a 10-year fracking boom has ebbed and flowed, as countless families and communities have borne the costs of this industry through disruption, displacement, sickness and even death, and as our planet hangs on the precipice of climate catastrophe, fossil fuel corporations and their elected enablers are seeking to turn up the pace of new fracking projects once again.

Our latest research shows that their endgame is a world locked into plastics, pollution and climate chaos. In addition to the buildout of a growing pipeline network, we've discovered that more than 700 new facilities have been built or proposed to capitalize off of a glut of cheap fracked gas. From petrochemical facilities to gas-fired power plants and liquefied natural gas export terminals, these new projects would commit America to another generation of dependence on fossil fuels. These new projects would bring dangerous air pollutants associated with heightened cancer risks and respiratory illnesses, and would disproportionately affect lower-income communities and communities of color where they are most commonly located.

These projects aren't just associated with health and safety risks: if even a fraction of them come to fruition, they will condemn the planet to a future of climate chaos.

While the influence of the oil and gas industry is immense, and the work ahead will be hard, we can stop this onslaught from the fossil fuel industry. The grassroots movement to reject dirty energy has banned fracking in New York and Maryland and stopped or delayed dozens of fossil fuel infrastructure projects that would have turned frontline communities into sacrifice zones, polluting air, water and the climate.

By 2016, polling showed that more than half of Americans disapproved of fracking. And, as we head into the 2020 presidential elections, climate change is emerging as a top issue among Democratic voters. There is hope for a better world without fracking, and that starts with strong policies that address our systemic dependence on the fossil fuels that are smothering our planet in plastic and pollution. Every day, as people power multiplies, we are working together to stop new fossil fuel development and to promote a rapid transition to a clean, just and equitable renewable energy future. It's time to fight like we live here.

Wenonah Hauter, Executive Director

The Fracking Endgame Locked Into Plastics, Pollution and Climate Chaos

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Executive Summary
Background: Three Industries Prop Up Financially Faltering Fracking
Petrochemical Manufacturing and Plastics Production
New investments to turn fracked gas into petrochemicals and plastics
Appalachia is targeted to become the new epicenter of petrochemical development
Expanding the petrochemical and plastics sectors in Texas and Louisiana 6
Expanding plastics industry pumps up pollution threats to nearby communities 6
Plastic pollution has a growing footprint
Exporting Fracked Natural Gas
The LNG export boom
New and planned LNG export facilities
Liquefaction and export terminals threaten communities with pollution
A Wave of New Fracked Gas Power Plants
The gas-fired power plant boom
Natural gas plants are no climate solution
Conclusion: Stopping Dirty Infrastructure Now Is the Only Way to Avoid a Fracked Future 15

Executive Summary

In the mid-2000s, the oil and gas industry accelerated the use of the controversial hydraulic fracturing ("fracking") technique to extract formerly inaccessible natural gas from shale rock and other geologic formations. Fracking has threatened communities near drilling rigs with water pollution, air emissions and ecosystem degradation.

Despite the risks and ecological destruction, fracking has spread like wildfire. Between 2000 and November 2018, the number of gas wells rose by more than half to approximately 550,000 drilling rigs.¹ Fracked gas production surged more than 15-fold from 2000 to the first half of 2018 when it reached an average of 56.3 billion cubic feet per day.² All this additional gas has pushed real, inflation-adjusted natural gas prices to their lowest levels in decades, now 60 percent lower than in 2008.³

Persistently low prices have challenged the economic viability of the fracking industry's continuous and steady expansion. Many firms are spending more on exploration and drilling than they earn from gas sales. The business solution to the oversupply and low prices was to find and promote new industry partnerships to absorb the gas glut, tighten up supplies and raise prices enough to keep expanding fracking's footprint.

Three industrial partners stepped up to capitalize on low gas prices: the petrochemical and plastics industries that use natural gas liquids as a key feedstock for their manufacturing; gas exporters building liquefied natural gas (LNG) terminals to ship gas overseas; and natural gas-fired power plants. These industries gain low-priced supplies and form a symbiotically profitable business alliance with the fracking industry. These industries are rapidly expanding:

- Proliferation of plastics plants to capitalize on fracking: Industry experts project that the plastics industry will have added 28 million tons of plastic production between 2011 and 2020, and more than \$202 billion is slated to be invested in 333 new facilities and expansions to take advantage of fracked gas, including 20 ethylene crackers to turn shale gas into feedstock for plastics manufacturing plants.
- Pushing natural gas exports to raise domestic prices: The industry and the Trump administration are promoting LNG exports to reduce the domestic gas supply and raise U.S. natural gas prices. In 2018, there were only 3 active LNG export facilities in the contiguous United States, but 22 more were either already being built or were approved for construction, and another 22 were pending federal review.
- Wave of new fracked gas-fired power plants: The power industry has 364 new gas-fired power plants under development for 2018 to 2022, and gas deliveries to power plants rose 57 percent between 2006 (before the fracking boom) and 2017. The gas-fired generation capacity from plants added in 2017 and 2018 alone could power 24 million U.S. households, an expansion that is creating a power surplus in some areas.



PHOTO CC-BY © KEN HODGE / FLICKR.COM

These industries are throwing an economic lifeline to the fracking industry. Without the buildout of fracked gas infrastructure, the fracking industry would likely face more severe economic headwinds and find it more difficult to fund drilling and exploration projects.

But as these industries prop up their mutual profits, they are proliferating pollution. Petrochemical plants, gas liquefaction facilities and gas-fired power plants emit air and climate pollution. Far from being a cleaner power source, natural gas is no climate solution. The power plants emit greenhouse gases and other hazardous air pollutants, and widespread leaks of the potent climate gas methane from gas infrastructure such as pipelines mean that declining power plant emissions are outweighed by increased greenhouse gas emissions from methane leaks.

The United States needs to rapidly shift to 100 percent clean, renewable energy to curb the worst impacts of climate catastrophe. The fossil fuel infrastructure that is currently planned and under construction will have an effective lifespan far longer than the point when experts agree that the world must shed all fossil fuels, meaning that these stranded assets will be wasted economic investments.⁴ But the fracking industry's partnership with the triple threat of the plastics industry, gas exporters and power companies is buttressing the climate-destroying expansion of fracking in the United States.

Background: Three Industries Prop Up Financially Faltering Fracking

The rapid expansion of hydraulic fracturing ("fracking") created a gas glut that has driven real gas prices to the lowest levels in decades.⁵ Now frackers are producing more gas than can be used — the fracked gas supply exceeds demand.⁶ This economic disconnect is bad for business, but fracking has been an even bigger environmental disaster for communities and the planet.

The fracking industry continues to push full steam ahead instead of moving away from the dangerous drilling technique. The solution to the frackers' financial frustrations are new outlets (markets) for fracked gas. Now other industrial partners are riding to the fracking industry's rescue to push for new infrastructure — petrochemical and plastics manufacturing facilities, gas-fired power plants and LNG export terminals — to sop up surplus gas, support fracking and raise gas prices.⁷ Wall Street investor-funded U.S. fracking produced an oversupply of cheap gas and gas byproducts in the past few years.⁸ In 2017, \$84 billion was sunk into fracking investments, helping the United States produce a record amount of natural gas.⁹ Fracked gas production was expected to set new records in 2018, and the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) predicted that gas production would grow by nearly a third by 2025.¹⁰

With the help of lax regulators and generous government handouts, natural gas is being turned into wasteful plastics, burned in new gas-fired power plants and dumped into overseas markets. Although conditions appear ripe for another crash, investors continue pumping billions into new drilling and exploration.¹¹ Some government policies are priming the fracking industry pump by giving gas, petrochemical and pipeline companies new tax breaks and subsidies.¹²

Despite soaring production, shale companies are not reaping huge profits.¹³ The last few years have delivered a series of busts for the industry. A decade ago the gas industry was struggling because of shortages, but in 2012 surplus gas sent the industry on a quest for new buyers to soak up its excess gas supplies.¹⁴ In 2014, a large glut began to suppress prices and led to a wave of bankruptcies; by the end of 2015 continued production amid an oversaturated market pushed real, inflationadjusted natural gas prices to all-time record lows.¹⁵ From 2008 to 2017, the real wholesale price for natural gas fell by 60 percent as total gas production rose.¹⁶

Persistently low prices have bedeviled the financial success of fracking companies. Yet fracking companies continued to pump gas from wells, even as some companies laid off workers and declared bankruptcy.¹⁷ In the first six months of 2018, the biggest fracking firms lost \$3.9 billion — they spent more on new drilling and other projects than they earned selling gas.¹⁸

In Texas, frackers have called current gas production "unprecedented."¹⁹ In West Texas' Permian Basin, fracking companies profit from the oil they produce, but without a market for the surplus gas, some of it has been disposed of through flaring and venting (burning or just releasing the gas into the atmosphere) or sold at nearzero prices.²⁰ In the Appalachian Basin, the Marcellus and Utica shale plays are expected to help double U.S. shale gas production by 2040, but regional demand is struggling to keep up.²¹ Fracking proponents admit that, "Without infrastructure, you have nothing."²² The fracking industry needs new demand sources to absorb excess gas to justify more drilling.²³ Fracking can only expand at its breakneck pace if the overabundance of low-priced gas can become profitable through new markets (exports), new end-users (petrochemical and power plants) or new products (plastics) to drive up gas demand.²⁴

These new industrial partners are eager to capitalize on cheap gas supplies. Together, the fracking industry, plastics and petrochemical manufacturers, gas exporters and electric power companies are creating mutually profitable and polluting partnerships. They form a symbiotic business relationship: the fracking industry gets new buyers, and the petrochemical, power plant and exporting firms get new, low-priced supplies.

Petrochemical Manufacturing and Plastics Production

Fracking has produced an oversupply of cheap ethane, a hydrocarbon present in natural gas that has been a boon for the plastics industry, which relies on petrochemical manufacturing to turn ethane into plastics.²⁵ More fracking means more low-cost ethane, and more plastics and petrochemical plants can eat up excess gas to justify more drilling.²⁶ The new partnership has promoted a plastics manufacturing building boom that threatens communities and the environment near the new factories as well as the global ecology. Natural gas is composed primarily of the greenhouse gas methane, which typically is delivered by utility companies for residential heating and to fuel gas-fired power plants.²⁷ In addition to this "dry" gas, some shale plays — especially the Utica and Marcellus shale gas reserves underlying vast portions of northeastern Appalachia — contain what the industry calls "wet" natural gas.²⁸ Wet natural gas contains higher concentrations of natural gas liquids (NGLs) — predominantly ethane but also propane, butane, isobutane and pentanes — which are the raw materials for manufacturing petrochemicals.²⁹

Companies process raw natural gas into dry gas and the different constituent NGLs, such as ethane. Once isolated, ethane is transported to a type of petrochemical facility known as a cracker plant that uses steam or heat to "crack" ethane into ethylene, the most frequently produced petrochemical that is converted into the most common type of plastic, polyethylene.³⁰ Ethylene goes through a chemical procedure called polymerization to convert it into small plastic pellets, or the polyethylene resin used to manufacture plastic products.³¹

In November 2013, representatives from the oil and gas, petrochemical and plastics industries convened a three-day summit — the first of its kind — to address the "opportunities and challenges of a 'coming renaissance' in North American plastics."³² According to



Plastics News, fracking "represents a once-in-a-generation opportunity" for the plastics industry.³³ A renewed push for plastics manufacturing provides the fracking industry with a polluting partner to absorb the everincreasing quantity of fracked natural gas.³⁴

New investments to turn fracked gas into petrochemicals and plastics

Investors have been lining up to build new factories that transform fracking byproducts into plastics.³⁵ Beginning in 2012, chemical companies started aggressively investing in petrochemical plants focused on tapping the gas glut.³⁶ Between 2011 and 2017, U.S. petrochemical production added 14 million tons of production capacity — by 2020, the United States will add another 14 million tons.³⁷ More than 20 new crackers and ethylene production expansion projects have been proposed in the country because of the natural gas boom.³⁸

In 2016, the chemical industry was already slated to spend over \$164 billion on 264 new facilities and expansion projects specifically to take advantage of shale gas.³⁹ By 2018, the numbers had climbed to \$202 billion on 333 facilities.⁴⁰ This investment is targeted primarily for Appalachia and the Gulf Coast, and is projected to drive a 40 percent increase in global plastics production over the next decade.⁴¹

Appalachia is targeted to become the new epicenter of petrochemical development

The proposed industrial solution to alleviate the Marcellus and Utica shale gas glut is to turn the Tri-State area of Ohio, Pennsylvania and West Virginia into a petrochemical epicenter. The key proposed facility includes the \$10 billion Appalachian Storage and Trading Hub, which would include a large underground NGL storage facility and a web of interconnected pipeline infrastructure to connect to petrochemical plants and plastics factories in the Tri-State region potentially extending into eastern Kentucky (which sits atop the Rogersville shale gas reserve).⁴²

The actual storage facility would be the cornerstone of the entire petrochemical development plan, which could incentivize and draw in additional petrochemical projects to the region.⁴³ The storage facility would provide a steady stream of ethane to nearby crackers and act as a trading post for exploration and production companies looking to sell their NGLs to



PHOTO CC-BY © OFFICE OF GOVERNOR TOM WOLF / FLICKR.COM

petrochemical plants (including ethane crackers) and plastics facilities.⁴⁴

The American Chemistry Council (ACC) estimates that chemical industries and plastics industries will invest \$35.8 billion for central Appalachia's regional petrochemical and plastic manufacturing facilities and large underground gas storage facility.⁴⁵ The combination of shale gas production and petrochemical facilities would create what *Crain's Cleveland Business* called "an ethane tsunami."⁴⁶

The petrochemical push also includes a total of five proposed ethane crackers in West Virginia, Ohio and Pennsylvania, but the ACC suggests that the Appalachian basin could support up to nine crackers.⁴⁷ Already under construction in western Pennsylvania is Shell's \$6 billion petrochemical facility consisting of an ethane cracker and a polyethylene unit to make plastics.⁴⁸ Shell also has proposed a 97-mile Falcon Ethane Pipeline that would run through Ohio, West Virginia and Pennsylvania to deliver ethane to the cracker.⁴⁹ A similar investment includes a partnership between a Thai government-owned oil company and a South Korean construction company with petrochemical expertise to build a \$10 billion ethane cracker in Belmont County, Ohio.⁵⁰

Expanding the petrochemical and plastics sectors in Texas and Louisiana

Tumbling NGL prices from an overproduction of shale gas in the Gulf Coast has also spurred a huge new wave of investment in Texas and Louisiana, which is already the epicenter of U.S. petrochemical and plastics manufacturing that produces half of the nation's petrochemicals.⁵¹

The region exported 7 billion pounds of plastic in 2018, and the abundance of cheap fracked gas will drive an estimated \$142 billion in petrochemical investment to the region.⁵² By 2017, an estimated \$71 billion was plowed into 134 Texas projects alone.⁵³

Projects in the Gulf Coast include billions of dollars poured into petrochemical facility expansions in Baytown and Mont Belvieu, Texas.⁵⁴ Exxon and the chemical company Sabic are also building a \$9.3 billion petrochemical complex in Corpus Christi, which is slated to open in 2021; it would be the biggest in the world, creating nearly 4 billion pounds of ethylene annually.⁵⁵ The mega-facility is just one project in a Corpus Christi plastics building boom, with over \$28 billion in new projects either planned or under construction during 2015.⁵⁶ The additional petrochemical manufacturing will compound local pollution generated by existing large facilities, falling largely on marginalized communities.⁵⁷

Chemical investment, often greased by substantial government handouts, is also flowing into Louisiana to build facilities largely against the wishes of local residents.⁵⁸ Formosa Petrochemical Corporation will receive millions of dollars in tax subsidies to build a \$9.4 billion, 2,400-acre petrochemical complex in St. James Parish.⁵⁹ Additionally, Sasol is building a \$11.1 billion ethane cracker in southwest Louisiana.⁶⁰ Wanhua Chemical Group has announced plans to locate a \$1.12 billion facility in Louisiana.⁶¹ Yunhuang Chemical is in the process of building a \$1.85 billion Louisiana chemical complex.⁶²

Expanding plastics industry pumps up pollution threats to nearby communities

The development of new petrochemical facilities, crackers and plastics plants will compound the existing pollution problems where the industry is expanding and spread it to new areas where new projects are developed, which would worsen existing air quality and public health problems. The Gulf Coast has some of the



PHOTO CC-NC © RICARDO CABRAL / FLICKR.COM

highest pollution levels and pollution-related illnesses and diseases,⁶³ and the Tri-State region already faces stark environmental and associated public health challenges from a century of industrial pollution.⁶⁴

Plants that convert natural gas into petrochemicals are known to emit massive amounts of air and climate pollutants including polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, carbon dioxide, ozone-creating volatile organic compounds (such as benzene and toluene) and nitrogen oxides.⁶⁵ These plants pump out mountains of toxic plastics.⁶⁶

A 2012 Houston Advanced Research Center study of local petrochemical pollution found that "large petrochemical flares lead to very rapid ozone formation that, if properly detected, would make attainment of the current federal ozone standard very difficult in Houston."⁶⁷ This petrochemical flaring also can expose nearby communities to high levels of formaldehyde, a carcinogenic air pollutant and ozone precursor.⁶⁸

Prolonged contact with ground-level ozone is linked to asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. When mixed with particulate matter, which has been linked to various cancers, smog can form.⁶⁹ In addition to asthma, long-term exposure to smog has been connected to premature deaths in adults and to low birthweight in babies.⁷⁰ Further, chronic exposure to air pollution can cause various illnesses, including cognitive deficits.⁷¹ Several studies have demonstrated that people's exposure to petrochemical facility pollutants is associated with heightened cancer risks, acute irritative symptoms (such as nausea and eye and throat irritation) and respiratory-related illnesses, especially for children.⁷²

The Ohio River Valley, where the Appalachian Storage and Trading Hub is proposed, has persistent air pollution problems that threaten the health of residents. The University of Pittsburgh Center for Healthy Environments and Communities identified the Ohio River Valley as having hotspots of criteria air pollutants from the northern West Virginia panhandle to the southern Ohio-West Virginia border.⁷³ Several Ohio, Pennsylvania and West Virginia communities were ranked among the most polluted areas for ozone and particulate matter by the American Lung Association, including Beaver County where one cracker is being built.⁷⁴ Belmont County, Ohio, the proposed site for another cracker, already has been plagued with "intense" emissions from shale gas development.⁷⁵ Industrial pollution, including emissions from chemical and plastics facilities, disproportionately impacts the health of nearby communities that often lack the resources to fight back, including communities of color and lower-income, economically depressed and less educated communities, which already tend to have worse health outcomes than whiter, more affluent communities.⁷⁶ The disproportionate location of polluters in communities of color and lower-income areas worsens these toxic health and environmental burdens.⁷⁷

This environmental injustice has been especially pronounced in both Texas and Louisiana. There were 16 chemical plants within a three-mile radius of the Manchester-Harrisburg neighborhood, one of Houston's lower-income communities of color.78 One study even found that children living within two miles of the Houston Ship Channel, where many petrochemical plants are located, have a 56 percent greater chance of developing leukemia than children living 10 miles away.⁷⁹ And Louisiana's historically African-American community of Mossville has been surrounded by 14 industrial facilities — including a coal-fired power plant, oil refinery and several petrochemical facilities — annually releasing millions of tons of toxins into the water, air and land, including high levels of cancer-causing substances.⁸⁰

Plastic pollution has a growing footprint

The petrochemical boom would ramp up plastics production, generating not only industry profits but also mountains of plastic waste. More than half of the new raw plastic resins produced in the United States are slated for export to be manufactured into plastic products.⁸¹ The majority of the plastics industry manufactures packaging, which creates materials that are immediately thrown away.⁸² Across the globe, each person discards 110 pounds of plastic annually.⁸³ Of the 18.3 trillion pounds of plastics produced since 1950, only approximately 9 percent has been recycled — meaning that more than 16 trillion pounds has been tossed into landfills, littered into the environment or incinerated.⁸⁴

In 2010 alone, nearly 200 coastal countries generated over 600 billion pounds of plastic waste, with 11 billion to 28 billion pounds ending up in the oceans.⁸⁵ This litter is creating and adding to colossal masses of plastic garbage floating in our oceans. In the central Pacific Ocean, four major ocean currents have brought this



waste into a slow-moving "plastic soup."⁸⁶ Dubbed the Great Pacific Garbage Patch, the world's largest dump is four times the size of California.⁸⁷

This pollution is a significant threat to marine biodiversity, impacting over 600 marine species.⁸⁸ Plastic debris frequently floats at the ocean's surface — mixing with food sources — where it entangles, chokes or is consumed by wildlife.⁸⁹ As plastic breaks into smaller pieces it releases the potent greenhouse gases ethylene and methane.⁹⁰ Ingesting resultant microplastics is extremely harmful to aquatic life and seabirds.⁹¹ Studies have found microplastics, tiny plastic fragments degraded from plastic litter, in open oceans, freshwater sources, lake sediments, river beds and the deepest ocean trenches.⁹² Between 2007 and 2013, an estimated 538 million pounds of plastic particles was found on the oceans' surface — from coastal Australia to the Mediterranean Sea.⁹³

Exporting Fracked Natural Gas

The basic economic problem for the fracking industry is that overproduction has created a gas glut that greatly outpaces the domestic demand. One simple way to tighten up domestic supplies is to export as much gas as possible, offloading excess gas supplies to raise domestic prices. It should be noted that this is a swift reversal of the energy independence justification for environmentally destructive fracking. The industry argued that fracking was necessary to foster energy independence,⁹⁴ but now it is promoting exports (even though by 2018 United States remained a net importer of fossil fuels).⁹⁵

As a result, the industry and its political allies including the Trump administration — have been pushing increased shipments of natural gas across the world, enabling frackers to prop up prices and to support continued exploration and overproduction.⁹⁶ These exports super-charge additional fracking, as 80 percent of the increased exports will be filled by gas from newly drilled wells — otherwise, that gas would have remained underground.⁹⁷ Some gas is exported by pipeline or truck to Mexico and Canada, and the rest is shipped by tanker from export terminals to reach overseas markets.⁹⁸

Natural gas is almost impossible to ship in its gaseous state. Super-cooling natural gas converts it to a liquid that takes up 600 times less volume, making it possible to load the LNG onto tankers; when it is unloaded, it is heated to return it to a gas.⁹⁹

The technical capacity to liquefy and ship natural gas has existed for quite some time, but the energyintensive and expensive process has been difficult to execute in an often volatile and uncertain gas market. LNG terminals such as Dominion Energy's Cove Point facility in Maryland were originally built to import LNG after the 1970s oil crisis.¹⁰⁰ As domestic gas prices fell, it was not economically viable to import and convert LNG back into a gas. When the fracking boom made imports obsolete, Cove Point was retrofitted to *export* natural gas.¹⁰¹ The rise of fracking has renewed industry promotion of LNG exports to prop up prices.¹⁰²

The LNG export boom

The U.S. gas industry is promoting exports to maintain fracking's profitability, which would drive additional drilling and gas extraction.¹⁰³ The first LNG export shipment from the lower 48 states departed from Cheniere's Sabine Pass terminal in February 2016.¹⁰⁴ The surplus of fracked gas quickly set the stage for an export boom, making the United States a net exporter of natural gas (where exports exceed imports) in 2017 for the first time since 1957 — just a year after the first LNG tanker left port.¹⁰⁵

The Trump administration has been pushing exports by trying to rush the approvals of new LNG export facilities.¹⁰⁶ Energy Secretary Rick Perry has said that, "My job is to sell a lot of [LNG] around the world" and has called opposition to fossil fuels "immoral."¹⁰⁷

In 2017, Trump's then top economic adviser, Gary Cohn, called for a new re-review of the proposed Jordan Cove LNG export terminal in Oregon, which was previously rejected by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) in 2016 because the facility would not fulfill FERC's public need requirement (because the project only benefited the exporting company, not U.S. consumers.)¹⁰⁸ The DOE determines whether LNG export applications to countries that are not part of U.S. free trade agreements are in the public interest based on economic and environmental criteria.¹⁰⁹ FERC has jurisdiction over siting, construction and operation of U.S. facilities and is tasked with performing environmental impact assessments under the National Environmental Policy Act.¹¹⁰

Trade deals such as the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) can make it easier to rubber stamp exports and facilitate the approval of export terminal projects. The Jordan Cove project needed to demonstrate that it met a public need because the exports were bound for Asian nations that do not have free trade agreements with the United States. Exports destined for countries that are parties to free trade agreements with the United States are exempt from environmental evaluation and presumed to be "in the public interest."¹¹¹ According to the American Petroleum Institute, "the current NAFTA agreement works for the oil and gas industry."¹¹² The Trumprenegotiated NAFTA maintained the pro-petroleum industry perspective, and the *Washington Post* reported that the new NAFTA delivered a "big win" to oil companies.¹¹³

By 2016, energy companies had proposed over \$44 billion worth of new LNG export terminals.¹¹⁴ In 2018, there were only 3 active LNG export facilities in the contiguous United States, but 22 were either already being built or were approved for construction, and another 22 were pending federal review either with the DOE or FERC (see Map).¹¹⁵

New and planned LNG export facilities

The United States now has the capacity to liquefy and export 3.6 billion cubic feet of natural gas per day, about 5 percent of U.S. gas production.¹¹⁶ If this gas were delivered to power plants, it would be enough to power 21.4 million homes, the equivalent of about 17 percent of U.S. households.¹¹⁷ Most of the ramped-up



SOURCE: Map based on data from U.S. Department of Energy. "Long Term Applications Received by the DOE/FE to Export. Domestically Produced LNG From the Lower-48 States." December 10, 2018; U.S. Federal Energy Regulatory Commission. "North American LNG Import/Export Terminals — Existing." July 2, 2018.

exports came from capacity expansions at Cove Point and at Cheniere Energy's Sabine Pass export facility that helped LNG exports quadruple between 2016 and 2017.¹¹⁸

With continued investment in export terminals and LNG shipping to overseas markets, export capacity could nearly triple to 9.6 billion cubic feet per day by 2020, making the United States the third largest LNG exporter, behind Qatar and Australia.¹¹⁹ By 2040, if industry investments and projections prove accurate, LNG exports could explode to 30.7 billion cubic feet per day, which would amount to more than a quarter of the DOE's projection for the U.S. gas supply.¹²⁰ However, exports may be a temporary fix rather than a long-term source of demand; experts are already predicting an oversupply of LNG globally as early as the mid-2020s.¹²¹

Cheniere Energy's Sabine Pass was the first facility in the lower 48 states to ship LNG overseas, delivering gas to Brazil in 2016.¹²² The company had no prior track record in running LNG facilities and repeatedly benefited from close relationships with regulators.¹²³ Its board has included a former high-level DOE official and a FERC commissioner.¹²⁴ In 2017, Cheniere had three top former Obama climate and energy officials in lucrative executive roles at the company.¹²⁵

The facility was whisked through the federal approval process. In 2011, after a short nine-month review, the DOE granted the necessary authorizations, and in 2012 Sabine Pass became the first LNG export project to clear FERC's environmental review.¹²⁶ Not only did it benefit from a speedy permitting process, but the project received nearly \$1.7 billion in tax subsidies, a large portion of which appears to have gone to executive raises.¹²⁷

Dominion Energy's Cove Point terminal became the second U.S. LNG export facility in 2018, when its first shipment left for Japan.¹²⁸ The \$4 billion terminal is connected to nearly 15,000 miles of pipeline infrastructure, which supply the terminal with fracked gas.¹²⁹ Cove Point threatens more than 830 people living just over a mile from the facility with the risk of accidents from explosive fuels and chemicals.¹³⁰

Some companies are explicitly building their export model around fracking. For example, Tellurian, an LNG exporter run by a former Cheniere executive who helped build the Sabine Pass facility, is planning a \$24 billion scheme to combine upstream fracked gas assets with liquefaction export terminals.¹³¹ In mid-2018 New Fortress Energy was in the midst of an initial public offering (IPO) to pump capital into its growing frackingsupplied LNG empire.¹³² The company liquefies natural gas at its facility in Miami and intends to build two new liquefaction facilities in northern Pennsylvania to export gas from the Marcellus shale.¹³³ These facilities link into New Fortress' global ambitions, supplementing the company's active LNG terminals in Jamaica and a planned terminal in Mexico, as well as potentially supplying its planned \$581 million LNG import facility in Ireland.¹³⁴

Four additional facilities are slated to come online by the end of 2019.¹³⁵ These include Kinder Morgan's Elba Island LNG facility in Georgia, Sempra LNG's Cameron

The globalized market for NGLs is ramping up worldwide plastics manufacturing

The Appalachian and Gulf Coast fracking industries are shipping NGLs to international markets as well. The Gulf is already a known hub for gas exports, which helps sop up surplus gas and boost prices (see "Exports" below).¹³⁷ NGL exports, primarily to China and Japan, are currently at record highs.¹³⁸ Energy Transfer Partners and Satellite Petrochemical aim to widen the pipeline to China by building a new ethane export terminal on the Gulf Coast capable of transporting at least 6.3 million gallons of NGLs a day by 2020.¹³⁹

Houston-based Enterprise Products Partners LP also is expanding an existing export terminal along the Houston Ship Channel to boost its exports. According to the company's CEO, "The resulting rapid growth in the supply of U.S. ethylene, combined with increased demand from international markets like Asia, creates an ideal scenario in which markets abroad are able to diversify their supply by accessing cost-advantaged feedstocks made possible by the shale revolution in the United States."¹⁴⁰

While Gulf Coast NGLs are ending up primarily in Asian markets, exports from Appalachia are traveling across the pond. United Kingdom-based chemical giant Ineos has teamed up with the U.S. fracking industry to fuel European plastic factories.¹⁴¹ The controversial Mariner East pipeline system delivers ethane to the Marcus Hook export terminal in Pennsylvania, then large vessels dubbed "dragon ships" deliver the fracked gas byproducts across the Atlantic Ocean to Ineos' European facilities.¹⁴² LNG facility in Louisiana, Freeport LNG's Quintana Island facility and Cheniere's Corpus Christi facility — the latter two both located in Texas. Combined, these facilities would export an additional 5.4 billion cubic feet per day, diverting another 7.2 percent of U.S. gas supplies.¹³⁶

Liquefaction and export terminals threaten communities with pollution

Approving more LNG facilities to export natural gas will spur more environmentally damaging drilling and fracking, while building these energy-intensive facilities will generate more greenhouse gas emissions. It takes a lot of energy to supercool natural gas enough to convert it to a liquid.

LNG export facilities and terminals emit large amounts of air pollution, damage marine habitats, release dangerous toxins into the water and emit colossal amounts of methane, locking in decades of climate pollution.¹⁴³ For example, Cove Point's carbon dioxide emissions rose by 26.7 percent to 174,500 metric tonnes between 2011 and 2016 as it ramped up to begin exports.¹⁴⁴ Other pollutants rose more steeply. Sulfur dioxide emissions more than tripled, particulate matter emissions rose 34.6 percent, and nitrogen oxides emissions rose 5.9 percent from 2011 to 2014, the latest data available.¹⁴⁵

The tankers and storage facilities also pose significant risks of potentially catastrophic explosions. In 2014, a pipeline explosion at a Washington state LNG terminal sent shrapnel flying into a 14.6 million gallon storage tank, causing it to leak.¹⁴⁶ The accident injured five workers, forced the evacuation of 1,000 residents within a two-mile radius and caused \$72 million in property damage.¹⁴⁷ In 2004, an LNG explosion at the Skikda, Algeria terminal killed 30 and flattened port infrastructure.¹⁴⁸ And in 1944, an LNG explosion in Cleveland, Ohio killed 128 people, injured between 200 and 400 more, and devastated the surrounding area.¹⁴⁹

A Wave of New Fracked Gas Power Plants

Independent power companies and regulated utilities are building natural gas-fired power plants at a frantic pace. The DOE projects that 364 new gas-fired generators will be built between 2018 and 2022.¹⁵⁰ In 2017 and 2018 alone, new gas plants provided an additional 36.6 gigawatts of energy — an 8 percent increase since



A commemorative plaque memorializes those who suffered in the East Ohio Gas Company's 1944 LNG tank and sewer line explosion. / PHOTO CC-BY © TIM EVANSON/FLICKR.COM

2016.¹⁵¹ This added gas-fired electric capacity could power 36.6 million homes, about a quarter of U.S. households.¹⁵²

The demand for electricity is not rising as fast as new gas plants are coming online. The scramble to build new gas plants could create a "power supply glut," potentially oversaturating the electricity market.¹⁵³ Building more gas power plants also locks us in to a fossil-fueled future. The average gas-fired electric generator is 26 years old; more than 743 generators (13 percent) went online at least 50 years ago, and the oldest operating generator went into service in 1915, over a century ago.¹⁵⁴

The gas industry promotes gas-fired power plants as a cleaner replacement for coal. But natural gas is no climate solution; the plant's carbon dioxide emissions and widespread leaks of the potent climate gas methane from gas infrastructure like pipelines mean that declining combustion emissions are outweighed by increased methane emissions.¹⁵⁵

And the new gas plants *supplement* rather than replace coal-fired power plants.¹⁵⁶ Although the prevailing wisdom is that the power industry is switching to gas-fired plants, the reality is that the decline in coal-fired plants is being substantially eclipsed by new gas power plants. The DOE projects that although retiring power generators will reduce coal-fired capacity by a net 21.6 gigawatts between



SOURCE: U.S. Energy Information Administration

2018 and 2022, the net additions of natural gas generators would add 49.7 gigawatts of capacity, and natural gas represents nearly 60 percent of power capacity coming online.¹⁵⁷

These new gas-fired power plants provide profit opportunities for power companies capitalizing on low gas prices and for fracking companies that hope these new plants will soak up supplies and ultimately raise prices enough to encourage more drilling.¹⁵⁸ New gas plants have already substantially increased prices for natural gas at the wellhead.¹⁵⁹ The gas plants drive additional gas drilling, cement fossil fuel's dominance of our energy grid, lock in greenhouse gas emissions for decades and displace investments in clean renewables like wind and solar.¹⁶⁰ Economic modeling of energy prices over the past two decades shows that increased natural gas production has lowered prices by \$0.16 per million Btu, while new gas-powered generation technology has increased natural gas prices by \$0.54 per million Btu.¹⁶¹

Since 2005, average monthly gas deliveries to the electric power sector have increased by 57 percent (see Figure 2).¹⁶² The proportion of electricity in the United States that came from natural gas was 32 percent in 2017 and is anticipated to increase to 34 percent by the end of 2019.¹⁶³ This buildout boosts the exploration and drilling sector's corporate profits by creating new infrastructure to absorb the overabundance of lowpriced natural gas, raising the demand and prices for fracked gas.¹⁶⁴

The gas-fired power plant boom

The natural gas plant boom is a nationwide phenomenon but has been especially concentrated near existing shale plays in Texas, Pennsylvania, Ohio and West Virginia.¹⁶⁵ Texas has added numerous gas plants in the past decade including the largest reciprocating gas plant in the country.¹⁶⁶ But the buildout is particularly pronounced in Appalachia where, according to Moody's Investors Service, the surplus of fracked gas produced by Marcellus and Utica shale reserves has spurred a "rush to build new gas plants."¹⁶⁷

Since 2011, energy companies have constructed or planned to build 48 new power plants fueled by fracked gas in Pennsylvania, including a massive 1,500 megawatt gas plant that Invenergy wants to build in Jessup.¹⁶⁸ Invenergy's power plant in Jessup is close to existing and proposed transmission lines that can send power to New York City.¹⁶⁹ Pennsylvania does not need the Jessup facility or any other new gas-fired power plants; already, the electricity grid in Pennsylvania is exporting more power to other states than the state's residential customers have used.¹⁷⁰ In Ohio, investors are funneling \$10 billion into nearly a dozen gas-fired power plants.¹⁷¹ These 11 Ohio megaplants would represent 10,000 megawatts of dirty generation powered by the nearby Marcellus and Utica shale plays.¹⁷² The largest of the Ohio plants is a 1,650 megawatt plant with a \$1.45 billion price tag.¹⁷³

At the same time, a sprawling web of pipeline infrastructure traversing the northeastern United States has made it possible for unnecessary power plant proposals to pop up in states where gas is not being drilled.¹⁷⁴ In Burriville, Rhode Island, for example, Invenergy proposed a 1,000 megawatt gas-fueled power plant that has been stalled by a protracted legal battle to use water from the local reservoir.¹⁷⁵

Diamond Generating Corp. plans to build a 1,200 megawatt gas plant in North Bergen, New Jersey. Shale gas from the Appalachian basin will likely fuel the facility, which is sited to be built near sensitive wetlands.¹⁷⁶ The proposed Meadowlands project would pollute local communities and the environment but is designed to deliver electricity into the grid and to export power to New York City through an underground transmission line running below the Hudson River.¹⁷⁷ It would be built near an existing, large 1,229 megawatt gas-fired power plant in Ridgefield,¹⁷⁸ potentially compounding regional air pollution.

Fracking has led to the construction of several pipelines to bring natural gas to Florida.¹⁷⁹ The largely fracked gas is driving a huge rise in Florida's gas-fueled electricity production.¹⁸⁰ The state's electric grid is set to have the nation's largest share of gas generation by 2021.¹⁸¹ These new plants are not just replacing coal-fired plants, but are replacing older gas plants and supplementing service to some areas of the state.¹⁸² A labyrinth of pipelines will be needed to service these facilities, like the proposed 685-mile Southeast Market Pipelines Project that aims to deliver natural gas to Florida power plants.¹⁸³ When all is done, the Sunshine State will also be home to a 1,640-megawatt power plant.¹⁸⁴



PHOTO CC-BY © ROBERT ASHWORTH / FLICKR.COM



PHOTO CC-BY-SA © KEES TORN / FLICKR.COM

Economic headwinds suggest that these power plants are not the result of inevitable market forces. In 2018, General Electric scaled back its gas power plant equipment business, but it tripled some incentives for its salespeople to market new power plant equipment.¹⁸⁵ Meanwhile, renewable power and storage technology exists to support a low-cost transition from fossil fuels.¹⁸⁶ In California, regulators approved and utilities built unnecessary and expensive gas power plants.¹⁸⁷ However, more affordable renewable options are leading some utilities to reconsider the economic wisdom of building out more gas-fired power plants.¹⁸⁸

Natural gas plants are no climate solution

The gas power plant boom will boost energy consumption, lock-in fossil fuel dependence and commit us to unacceptable levels of carbon dioxide emissions.¹⁸⁹ The proposed gas plants would increase the climatedestroying emissions both from the plants and from the widespread methane leaks from connecting infrastructure, meaning that natural gas cannot be considered a low-carbon fuel.¹⁹⁰ These infrastructure projects will remain part of the energy landscape for decades — some U.S. pipelines were built more than 70 years ago, and gas-fired power plants can operate for more than 50 years.¹⁹¹ Natural gas-fired plants are major emitters of nitrogen oxides, contribute to ground-level ozone and smog, and threaten the environment and human health.¹⁹² Natural gas-fired power plants can also release radon,¹⁹³ a naturally occurring radioactive material that is the second leading cause of lung cancer in the United States, after smoking.¹⁹⁴

Air pollution from power plants disproportionately affects lower-income communities and communities of color, where power plants are most commonly located.¹⁹⁵ A 2017 analysis found that half of California's gas-fired power plants were located in communities designated as disadvantaged — and only 9 percent of the plants were in the least disadvantaged areas.¹⁹⁶ A 2018 Food & Water Watch study found that Pennsylvania's buildout of new natural gas plants fueled by the Marcellus and Utica shale plays were more likely to be sited near lower-income and less-educated communities, reinforcing the long-standing existing pattern of environmental injustice.¹⁹⁷

Ultimately, the sunk investment costs in these new greenhouse gas emitters not only discourage investments in clean, renewable energy,¹⁹⁸ but they also magnify the demand for natural gas, encouraging more fracking, pipelines and the associated methane leaks.¹⁹⁹ Even if public pressure forces the early retirement of these power plants, their costs would still be passed on to ratepayers.²⁰⁰

Conclusion: Stopping Dirty Infrastructure Now Is the Only Way to Avoid a Fracked Future

The new wave of fracked gas infrastructure investments — petrochemical facilities, plastics plants, LNG export facilities and gas-fired power plants — are symbiotic profiteering opportunities for the shale gas industries and their new industrial partners. The growing expansion and new construction of these gas-consuming facilities locks in more demand for drilling and fracking, and cements decades more of climate pollution.

These industries do not produce products of real value or need. Encouraging the use of plastics, preserving antiquated electricity generation, and supercooling gas loaded at potentially explosive export terminals and mega-tankers endangers human health, the environment and the future of the planet.

These industries are proving an economic lifeline to a fracking industry that is spending more on capital investments (exploration, drilling and infrastructure) than it is earning from gas sales because of persistently low prices. The new petrochemical factories, LNG exports and power plants will cushion the fracking industry by sopping up the gas glut, tightening the supply and raising prices. Without the buildout of fracked gas infrastructure, the industry would likely face more severe economic headwinds and be unable to reinvest in more drilling and exploration.

Instead of doubling down on new fossil fuel facilities, we must invest in clean, renewable energy. Technology for a large-scale transition to renewables has existed for over 20 years²⁰¹ — we just need strong government policies backed by political will to see them through. Food & Water Watch recommends:

- **Banning fracking everywhere.** We must act to immediately ban fracking and associated activities, such as sand mining and waste disposal that support fracking, and fully investigate claims of environmental contamination from drilling and fracking.
- Stopping fossil fuel exports and the construction of infrastructure to support these exports. We

must halt the rapid expansion of dirty infrastructure and stop the unloading of dirty fuels in overseas markets.

- Restricting the sale of plastic products that prop up the oil and gas industry. We must restrict the sale of unnecessary petrochemical products, particularly single-use packaging and made-fordisposal products.
- Enacting aggressive energy conservation policies. Large investments in public transportation and widespread deployment of other energy-saving solutions will reduce demand for fracking and support a transition to clean energy.
- Transitioning to 100 percent clean, renewable energy by 2035. We must establish ambitious programs for deploying and incentivizing existing renewable energy and energy efficiency technologies, in order to slash fossil fuel demand and reach 100 percent clean, renewable energy by 2035.
- Modernizing electrical grids to cater to distributed renewable power generation. Creating resilient, local, renewable-powered grids will reduce dependence on dirty generation and increase resilience to climate chaos.
- Increasing investments in research to support the next generation of efficiency and energy technologies. Making investments in research and development to overcome technological barriers to the next generation of clean energy and energy efficiency solutions will lower prices and further help clean technologies compete with long-subsidized dirty power.
- Refusing to bail out stranded dirty infrastructure investments. As climate chaos damages petrochemical investments and the clean energy transition requires closing expensive assets early, the burden must fall on the investors and not on the public ratepayers or taxpayers.
- End eminent domain for private gain. Refusing shaky interpretations of the "public interest" that include private plunder via state power would undermine the economic basis for dangerous pipeline and export infrastructure.

Endnotes

- 1 U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA). Number of Producing Gas Wells. (NA1170-SPA-8.) Available at www.eia.gov/ naturalgas/data.php. Accessed November 2018.
- 2 EIA. Dry Shale Gas Production Estimates by Play. November 15, 2018. Available at www.eia.gov/naturalgas/weekly/img/shale_ gas_201810.xlsx. Accessed November 2018.
- 3 Food & Water Watch analysis of EIA workbooks: U.S. Natural Gas Marketed Production; U.S. Natural Gas Gross Withdrawals; U.S. Natural Gas Gross Withdrawals From Shale Gas. Available at www.eia.gov. Accessed March 2018.
- 4 Shalizi, Z. and F. Lecocq. World Bank. Development Economics. "Climate Change and the Economics of Targeted Mitigation in Sectors With Long-Lived Capital Stock." Policy Research Working Paper. No. 5063. September 2009 at 4 to 6; European Systemic Risk Board. "Too Late, Too Sudden: Transition to a Low-Carbon Economy and Systemic Risk." Reports of the Advisory Scientific Committee. No. 6. February 2016 at 11 and 12; Pfeiffer, Alexander et al. "The '2°C Capital Stock' for Electricity Generation: Committed Cumulative Carbon Emissions From the Power Sector and the Transition to a Green Economy." INET Oxford Working Paper No. 2015-09. January 2016 at 1.
- 5 Puko, Timothy and Nicole Friedman. "Natural gas falls to all-time inflation-adjusted low extremely warm weather continues to limit demand." *Wall Street Journal*. December 16, 2015; Woodall, Candy. "Oil and gas drillers facing bankruptcy as prices crash." *Harrisburg Patriot-News* (PA). January 14, 2016; "America's shale firms don't give a frack about financial returns." *The Economist*. May 25, 2017; Puko, Timothy. "Gas firms rally on signs glut is easing; Four of nine top- performing stocks in the S&P 500 are gas producers." *Wall Street Journal*. May 13, 2016.
- 6 Bowling, Brian. "Shale gas output ahead of facilities." *Westmoreland Tribune-Review* (PA). February 24, 2018; Alessi, Christopher. "Shale output hasn't grown this fast since oil was at \$100; in closely watched report, IEA warns U.S. crude output is set to outpace demand in 2018." *Wall Street Journal*. February 13, 2018; Shaffer, Bud and Andrew Slaughter. Deloitte. "Sustaining Growth: Appalachia's Natural Gas Opportunity." 2017 at 9.
- 7 Bowling (2018); Sisk, Amy. "Pennsylvania's gas fields ramp up for more drilling in 2018." NPR StateImpact Pennsylvania. December 29, 2017; Abrahamian, Tanya. "NOTE: Gas leak! A cost-benefit analysis of liquefied natural gas exports." Georgetown Journal of Law & Public Policy. Vol. 15. 2017 at 671; Shaffer and Slaughter (2017) at 9; Matthews, Christopher. "The shale revolution's staggering impact in just one word: Plastics." Wall Street Journal. June 25, 2017.
- 8 Kraus, Clifford and Eric Lipton. "After the boom in natural gas." *New York Times*. October 20, 2012; EIA. "Ethane production expected to increase as petrochemical consumption and exports expand." April 1, 2016; McLean, Bethany. "The next financial crisis lurks underground." *New York Times*. September 1, 2018.
- 9 Carroll, Joe. "Shale drillers are outspending the world with \$84 billion spree." *Bloomberg.* May 10, 2017; Gonzales, Leticia. "Louisiana, Appalachia lead way as U.S. natural gas production sets records." *Natural Gas Intelligence.* April 10, 2018.
- 10 Gonzales (2018); Malik, Naureen S. "What will it take to keep up with shale gas boom? \$170 billion." *Bloomberg*. April 11, 2018.
- 11 Alessi (2018); Cook, Lynn. "An old fracking hot spot makes a comeback; The Haynesville Shale in Louisiana is being reborn, with the number of active drilling rigs tripling in the past year." *Wall Street Journal.* October 17, 2017.
- 12 Ndguagu, Experience. Canadian Energy Research Institute. "Economic Impacts and Market Challenges for the Methane to Derivatives Petrochemical Sub-Sector." March 2018 at 9 and 10; Baldwin, William. "2018 tax guide to MLPs." Forbes. February 14,

2018; Doerr, Erich. "Local natural gas power plant is proposed." *St. Ignace News* (MI). July 24, 2014; "Springfield moving forward with new natural gas power plant." *WAND17 — Springfield, II.* April 25, 2018; "New Indiana gas power plant set to operate by March." *Associated Press.* February 1, 2018; Thompson, Richard. "Cheniere close to exporting LNG from Cameron amid turbulent market conditions." *Baton Rouge Advocate.* January 31, 2016.

- 13 Al-Sudairi, Mazen. Al Rajhi Capital. "Oil Market Update: OPEC Harmony and Shale Reality." January 29, 2018; "Shale drillers still struggling to rein in spending." *E&E News*. May 18, 2018; "America's shale firms don't give a frack about financial returns." (2017); Gurdus, Elizabeth. "Cramer: You should be scared if you own natural gas stocks." *CNBC*. March 26, 2018.
- 14 EIA (2016); EIA "Growing U.S. HGL production spurs petrochemical industry investment." January 29, 2015; Helman, Christopher. "The U.S. has a natural gas glut." *Forbes*. June 13, 2012.
- 15 Pofeldt, Elaine. "Spillover effect: Oil price crash bankrupting 'small oil.'" *CNBC*. January 12, 2015; Egan, Matt. "U.S. oil bankruptcies spike 379%." *CNN Money*. February 11, 2016; "America's shale firms don't give a frack about financial returns." (2017); Puko (2016).
- 16 Food & Water Watch analysis of EIA workbooks: U.S. Natural Gas Marketed Production; U.S. Natural Gas Gross Withdrawals; U.S. Natural Gas Gross Withdrawals From Shale Gas. Available at www.eia.gov. Accessed March 2018.
- 17 Woodall (2016); "America's shale firms don't give a frack about financial returns." (2017).
- 18 Williams-Derry, Clark and Kathy Hipple. Sightline Institute and Institute for Energy Economics and Financial Analysis. "Energy Market Update: Red Flags on U.S. Fracking." October 2018 at 1.
- 19 Blum, Jordan. "Sand, water, and horsepower: Welcome to the year of the fracker." *Houston Chronicle*. January 25, 2018.
- 20 Rapier, Robert. "The Permian Basin's looming bottleneck." *Forbes*. April 5, 2018; Mosier, Jeff. "Natural gas wasted by Permian Basin drillers could fuel a few Texas counties for over 2 years." *Dallas News*. November 15, 2017.
- 21 Shaffer and Slaughter (2017) at 3; U.S. Department of Energy (DOE). "Natural Gas Liquids Primer With a Focus on the Appalachian Region." December 2017 at 25.
- 22 Shrum, Rick. "Energy speakers call pipelines key to natural gas boom." *Washington County Observer-Reporter* (PA). May 18, 2018.
- 23 Loris, Nicolas D. Heritage Foundation. "U.S. Natural Gas Exports: Lift Restrictions and Empower the States." *Backgrounder* No. 2767. February 11, 2013 at 1 and 3; American Petroleum Institute (API). "Understanding Natural Gas Markets." 2014 at 15; EIA (2016); EIA (2015).
- 24 Loris (2013) at 1 and 3; API (2014) at 15; EIA (2016); EIA (2015); Bowling (2018).
- 25 EIA (2016); "Energy upside: The surge of ethane." *Oil & Gas 360*. April 1, 2016; Ghanta, Madhav et al. "Environmental impacts of ethylene production from diverse feedstocks and energy sources." *Applied Petrochemical Research*. Vol. 4, Iss. 2. 2014 at 167; American Chemistry Council (ACC), Economics & Statistics Department. "Plastic Resins in the United States." July 2013 at 14 and 15.
- 26 API (2014) at 15; EIA (2016); Ghanta (2014) at 167; "Energy upside: The surge of ethane." (2016); ACC (2013) at 14 and 15; EIA. "What are natural gas liquids and how are they used?" April 20, 2012.
- 27 U.S. Energy Development Corporation. "Natural Gas: Dry vs. Wet." 2017.
- 28 Pickett, Al. "Marcellus, Utica shales make northeast focal point of growing U.S. production." *American Oil & Gas Reporter*. No-

vember 2013 at 3 and 5; Brackett, Will. *Powell Shale Digest*. Penn State Extension Webinar. [PowerPoint]. "How Marcellus & Utica Compare to Other Shale Basins." August 27, 2015 at slides 7 and 8; Energy Ventures Analysis, Inc. "Outlook for Natural Gas Supply and Demand for 2015-2016 Winter." 2015 at 23 and 25.

- EIA. "Glossary: Natural gas." Available at https://www.eia.gov/ tools/glossary/?id=natural%20gas. Accessed August 15, 2016; Soylu, Seref. Iowa State University. "Autoignition of modeling of natural gas for engine modeling programs — An experimental and modeling study." *Retrospective Theses and Dissertations*. 2001 at 1; Troner, Al. James A. Baker III Institute for Public Policy, Rice University. "Natural Gas Liquids in the Shale Revolution." April 29, 2013 at 4; EIA (2012); von Oettingen, Wolfgang Felix. "The toxicity and potential dangers of aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbons." *Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine*. Vol. 15, Iss. 2. December 1942 at 167.
- PennState Extension. "Fractionator? Cracker? What Are They?" April 15, 2012; Emerson Process Management. "Chapter 1. Ethylene Production." 2010 at 1-2; Ghanta (2014) at 168 and 169; PricewaterhouseCoopers. "Shale Gas. Reshaping the U.S. Chemicals Industry." October 2012 at 6
- 31 DOE. Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy. "Formosa Plastics Corporation: Plant-Wide Assessment of Texas Plant Identifies Opportunities for Improving Process Efficiency and Reducing Energy Costs." January 2005 at 1; Siemens. "Process Analytics in Polyethylene (PE) Plants." December 2007 at 2.
- 32 Callari, James. [Editorial]. "The shale gas game changer." *Plastics Technology*. January 2014; Callari, James. [Editorial]. "Mark your calendar for first-ever global plastics summit." *Plastics Technology*. October 2013.
- 33 Eisenberg, Barry. "Plastics in today's re-emerging U.S. economy." SPI Magazine. Fall 2013 at 8.
- 34 Blunt, Katherine. "Ethane consumption surges with petrochemcial boom. The natural gas liquid is in heavy use as shale fields raise production." *Houston Chronicle*. February 24, 2018; Matthews (2017).
- 35 ACC. [Fact sheet]. "U.S. Chemical Investment Linked to Shale Gas: \$164 Billion and Counting." April 2016.
- 36 EIA (2016); EIA (2015).
- 37 Paraskova, Tsvetana. "Shale boom creates new petrochemical hub." OilPrice.com. April 18, 2018.
- 38 Frazier, Reid R. "'Cracker' plant will bring jobs, but what about the air?" *The Allegheny Front*. March 24, 2012; Fallas, Benardo and Pavel Paclov. "Special report — Petrochemicals. Time to get cracking." *Platts*. January 2013 at 2; OneOk Partners. [Presentation]. "Investor Update." March 1-2, 2016 at 40 and 41; "Ethylene projects in the ethane-heavy northeast US." *Platts*. March 1, 2016.
- 39 ACC (2016).
- 40 ACC (2018).
- 41 Taylor, Matthew. "\$180bn investment in plastic factories feeds global packaging binge." *The Guardian* (U.K.). December 26, 2017; ACC, Economics & Statistics Department. "The Potential Economic Benefits of an Appalachian Petrochemical Industry." May 2017 at 8 to 12; Texas Oil & Gas Association. "U.S. Energy Dominance Starts in Texas." August 24, 2017 at 6; Blum, Jordan. "From Houston to Asia and back, ethane's final form is packaging." *Houston Chronicle*. September 17, 2018.
- 42 Tri-State Regional Cooperation Agreement. West Virginia, Ohio, Pennsylvania. "Agreement to Enhance Regional Cooperation and Job Growth Through the Continuing Development of Shale Gas in the Appalachian Basin." October 13, 2015; ACC (2017) at 6, 9 and 10; Mattise, Jonathan. "Appalachian underground natural gas storage hub clears initial hurdle." *West Virginia Public Broadcasting.* January 3, 2018.

- 43 Carter, Kristin M. et al. Appalachian Oil and Natural Gas Consortium at West Virginia University. "A geologic study to determine the potential to create an Appalachian storage hub for natural gas liquids." August 1, 2016 – July 31, 2017 at 1.
- 44 Cart, Samantha. "Appalachian storage hub: Realizing our potential." *West Virginia Executive*. June 2, 2016.
- 45 ACC (2017) at 8 to 12.
- 46 Thomas, Andrew. "Shale development creates possible petrochemical industry growth for Ohio." *Crain's Cleveland Business*. December 12, 2015.
- 47 OneOk Partners. (2016) at 40 and 41; "Ethylene projects in the ethane-heavy northeast US." (2016); ACC (2017) at 9.
- 48 Shell. [Press release]. "Shell to build new petrochemicals complex in Pennsylvania." June 7, 2016; Penn State. [Press release]. "Penn State Behrend will connect Erie companies to \$6 billion energy project." April 24, 2018.
- 49 Frazier, Reid. "Activist groups want more time to review Shell Falcon pipeline permits." NPR StateImpact Pennsylvania. January 31, 2018; Hopey, Don. "DEP extends public comment period for Falcon Ethane Pipeline." Pittsburgh Post-Gazette. February 20, 2018.
- 50 Gillispie, Mark and Julie Carr Smyth. "S Korean firm joins Ohio effort to build petrochemical plant." Associated Press. March 12, 2018; Junkins, Casey. "Updated: Kasich says Belmont County cracker partnership pushes price tag to \$10 billion." The Intelligencer (Wheeling, WV). March 12, 2018; DiChristopher, Tom. "Appalachia joins the race for the multibillion-dollar petrochemicals boom." CNBC. July 11, 2017.
- 51 ACC (2017) at 7; Fraizer, Reid R. "Houston cleaning up pollution by going after ethane cracker emissions." *The Allegheny Front*. October 27, 2013;
- 52 Texas Oil & Gas Association (2017) at 6; Blum (2018).
- 53 Texas Oil & Gas Association (2017) at 6.
- 54 Blum (2018).
- 55 Matthews (2017).
- 56 Hunt, Harold D. Texas A&M. "Corpus Christi Industrial Development." Publication 2094. March 12, 2015 at 1.
- 57 Laris, Michael. "In the shadows of Refinery Row, a parable of redevelopment and race." *Washington Post.* October 21, 2017.
- 58 "Fracking boom drives Taiwan company's plan for \$9 billion petrochemical plant in Louisiana." Associated Press. April 23, 2018; Zanolli, Lauren. "Cancer Alley' residents say industry is hurting town: 'We're collateral damage." The Guardian (U.K.). June 6, 2017.
- 59 "Fracking boom drives Taiwan company's plan for \$9 billion petrochemical plant in Louisiana." (2018).
- 60 *Ibid.*
- 61 Wanhua Chemical Group. [Press release]. "New \$1.12 billion chemical plant for Louisiana." April 11, 2017.
- 62 *Ibid.*
- 63 Pezzullo, Phaedra C. "Touring 'Cancer Alley,' Louisiana: Performances of community and memory for environmental justice." *Text and Performance Quarterly.* Vol. 23, No. 3. July 2003 at 227; DeLaune, Jonathan Zachary. Louisiana State University, Agricultural and Mechanical College, Master's Thesis. "Unwelcome neighbors? Industrial growth and water pollution in Lake Charles, Louisiana, 1940-1960." 2007 at 6; Linder, Stephen H. et al. "Cumulative cancer risk from air pollution in Houston: Disparities in risk burden and social disadvantage." *Environmental Science & Technology.* Vol. 42, No. 12. 2008 at 4312 and 4314.
- 64 Food & Water Watch analysis of U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) data for Superfund, Resource Conservation and Reclamation Act sites and brownfield sites for the Upper Ohio River Valley watershed. Available at www.epa.gov/cleanups/ cleanups-my-community#map. Accessed July 2018.

- 65 Benchaita, Tayeb. Inter-American Development Bank, Environmental Safeguards Unit. "Greenhouse Gas Emissions From New Petrochemical Plants. Background Information Paper for the Elaboration of Technical Notes and Guidelines for IDB Projects." July 2013 at 3 to 5, 10 and 15; Frazier (2012); Chen, Mei-Hsia. "A feasible approach to quantify fugitive VOCs from petrochemical processes by integrating open-path fourier transform infrared spectrometry measurements and industrial source complex (ISC) dispersion model." *Aerosol and Air Quality Research.* 2015 at 1110; Rivas-Arancibia, Selva et al. "Oxidative stress caused by ozone exposure induces loss of brain repair in the hippocampus of adult rats." *Toxicological Sciences.* Vol. 113, No. 1. 2010 at 187.
- 66 Lithner, Delilah et al. "Environmental and health hazard ranking and assessment of plastic polymers based on chemical composition." *Science of the Total Environment*. Vol. 409. 2011 at 3322.
- 67 Olaguer, Eduardo P. "Near-source air quality impacts of large olefin flares." *Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association.* Vol. 62, Iss. 8. 2012 at 986.
- 68 Ibid. at 978 and 986.
- 69 Colborn, Theo et al. "Natural gas operations from a public health perspective." International Journal of Human and Ecological Risk Assessment. September 2011 at 1042; Wong, Chit Ming et al. "Cancer mortality risks from long-term exposure to ambient fine particle." Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention. May 2016 at 839.
- 70 Salam, Muhammad T. et al. "Birth outcomes and prenatal exposure to ozone, carbon monoxide, and particulate matter: Results from the Children's Health Study." Environmental Health Perspectives. Vol. 113, No. 11. November 2005 at 1638 and 1643; Bravender, Robin. "Study links smog exposure to premature death." New York Times. March 12, 2009.
- 71 Calderón-Garcidueñas, Lilian et al. "Exposure to severe urban air pollution influences cognitive outcomes, brain volume and systemic inflammation in clinically healthy children." *Brain and Cognition*. Vol. 77, Iss. 3. 2011 at 345 and 353; Mokoena, Mmalebuso Lynnette et al. "Ozone inhalation induces central oxidative stress, cognitive deficits, depressogenic-and anxiogenic-like behavior in stress sensitive rats." *FASEB Journal*. Vol. 27, No. 1. April 2013 at Abstract; Rivas-Arancibia et al. (2010) at 187, 195 and 196; Wong et al. (2016) at 839.
- 72 Yang, Chun-Yuh et al. "Respiratory and irritant health effects of population living in a petrochemical-polluted area in Taiwan." Environmental Research. Vol. 74, No. ER973762. 1997 at 145, 147 and 148; Belli, S. et al. "Case-control study on cancer risk associated to residence in the neighborhood of a petrochemical plant." European Journal of Epidemiology. Vol. 19. 2004 at 49, 50 and 53; Wichmann, Fernando A. et al. "Increased asthma and respiratory symptoms in children exposed to petrochemical pollution." Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology. Vol. 123, No. 3. 2009 at 632; White, Neil et al. "Meteorologically estimated exposure but not distance predicts asthma symptoms in schoolchildren in the environs of a petrochemical refinery: A cross-sectional study." Environmental Health. Vol. 8, No. 45. September 25, 2009 at 1; Sopian, Nor Ashikin. "Risk of respiratory health impairment among susceptible population living near petrochemical industry — A review article." Iranian Journal of Public Health. Vol. 45, No. 1. February 2016 at 9, 10, 11 and 15; Kongtip, Pornpimol et al. "Health effects of people living close to a petrochemical industrial estate in Thailand." Journal of the Medical Association of Thailand. Vol. 96, No. 5. 2013 at S67 and S70.
- 73 Goldstein, Bernard D. Center for Healthy Environments and Communities, University of Pittsburgh. [Presentation]. "Potential Health Effects of Marcellus Shale Activities." May 2011 at 19.
- 74 American Lung Association. "State of the Air 2017." 2017 at 15, 16, 133 and 139. Pittsburgh-New Castle-Weirton metropolitan area ranked as the eighth most polluted city for year-round particulate matter pollution, and Pennsylvania's Allegheny and Beaver Counties and Ohio's Stark Country received failing grades for the number of high-ozone days.

- 75 Stonesifer, Jared. "Report: Beaver County's air still among worst in nation." *Beaver County Times.* April 19, 2017; Downing, Bob. "Eco-group working to make invisible air pollution from Ohio's Utica Shale visible to everyone." *Akron Beacon Journal*. November 23, 2015; "Ethane cracker plant in Belmont County would add pollution to Ohio Valley." *The Intelligencer* (WV). April 28, 2015.
- 76 Konisky, David M. "Inequities in enforcement? Environmental justice and government performance." Journal of Policy Analysis and Management. Vol. 28, No. 1. 2009 at 104; Pace, David. "Study: Minorities suffer most from industrial pollution." Associated Press. December 14, 2005; Lynch, Michael J. et al. "Slippery business. Race, class, and legal determinants of penalties against petroleum refineries." Journal of Black Studies. Vol. 34, No. 3. January 2004 at 423; Bell, Michelle L. and Keita Ebisu. "Environmental inequality in exposures to airborne particulate matter components in the United States." Environmental Health Perspectives. Vol. 120, No. 12. December 2012 at 1699 and 1702; Wilson, Adrian et al. National Association for the Advancement of Colored People, Indigenous Environmental Network, Little Village Environmental Justice Organization. "Coal blooded. Putting profits before people." November 2012 at 15; Massetti, Emanuele et al. Prepared by Oak Ridge National Laboratory for the U.S. DOE. "Environmental quality and the U.S. power sector: Air guality, water guality, land use and environmental justice." January 4, 2017 at x; Bahls, Christine. "Achieving equity in health. Racial and ethnic minorities face worse health and health care disparities — but some interventions have made a difference." Health Policy Brief. October 6, 2011 at 1.
- 77 Lynch et al. (2004) at 423; U.S. Commission on Civil Rights. "Environmental Justice: Examining the Environmental Protection Agency's Compliance and Enforcement of Title VI and Executive Order 12,898." September 2016 at 165; Morello-Frosch, Rachel et al. "Environmental justice and regional inequality in Southern California: Implications for future research." *Environmental Health Perspectives.* Vol. 110, Suppl. 2. April 2002 at 149 and 151.
- 78 Center for Science and Democracy at the Union of Concerned Scientists. Texas Environmental Justice Advocacy Services. "Double Jeopardy in Houston." October 2016 at 4, 11 and 14.
- 79 Walker, Kristina et al. University of Texas Health Science at Houston, School of Public Health. Presentation to the City of Houston. "An investigation of the association between hazardous air pollutants and the lymphohematopoietic cancer risk among residents of Harris County, Texas." January 2007 at 1 and 8; Horswell, Cindy. "Study: Children living near Houston Ship Channel have greater cancer risk." *Houston Chronicle.* January 18, 2007.
- 80 Mossville Environmental Action Now, Inc., Subra Company, Advocates for Environmental Human Rights. "Industrial Sources of Dioxin Poisoning in Mossville, Louisiana: A Report Based on the Government's Own Data." July 2007 at 1.
- 81 Asbury, Martina. PetroChemical Update. "U.S. Northeast Petrochemical Industry: Market Outlook 2018." November 2017 at 5; Blunt (February 24, 2018); Blunt, Katherine. "Houston-area petrochemical producers look overseas to sell plastic." *Houston Chronicle.* February 1, 2018.
- 82 Jambeck, Jenna R. et al. "Plastic waste inputs from land into the ocean." *Science Magazine*. Vol. 347, Iss. 6223. February 13, 2015 at 768
- 83 Worm, Boris et al. "Plastic as a persistent marine pollutant." *Annual Review of Environment and Resources.* Vol. 42. 2017 at 2.
- 84 Geyer, Roland et al. "Production, use, and fate of all plastics ever made." *Science Advances*. Vol. 3. 2017 at 1.
- 85 Jambeck et al. (2015) at 768.
- 86 National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA.) Office of Response and Restoration. "How Big Is the 'Great Pacific Garbage Patch"? Science vs. Myth." February 7, 2013; Harse, Grant A. "Plastic, the Great Pacific Garbage Patch, and interna-

tional misfires at a cure." *UCLA Journal of Environmental Law and Policy*. Vol. 29, Iss. 2. 2011 at 332 to 334 and 344; Grant, Richard. "Drowning in plastic: The Great Pacific Garbage Patch is twice the size of France." *The Telegraph* (U.K.). April 2009.

- 87 NOAA (2013); Harse (2011) at 332 to 334 and 344; Grant (2009); Lebreton, L. et al. "Evidence that the Great Pacific Garbage Patch is rapidly accumulating plastic." *Scientific Reports*. Vol. 8, No. 4666. 2018 at 1 and 13.
- 88 Johnston, Emma L. and David A. Roberts. "Contaminants reduce the richness and evenness of marine communities: A review and meta-analysis." *Environmental Pollution*. Vol. 157. 2009 at 1745; Gall, S.C. and R.C. Thompson. "The impact of debris on marine life." *Marine Pollution Bulletin*. Vol. 92, Iss. 1-2. March 2015 at 3 and 5.
- 89 Boerger, Christiana M. et al. "Plastic ingestion by planktivorous fishes in the North Pacific Central Gyre." Marine Pollution Bulletin. Vol. 60. 2010 at 2275; Barnes, David K.A. et al. "Accumulation and fragmentation of plastic debris in global environments." Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B. Vol. 364. 2009 at 1985; Green, Dannielle Senga et al. "Impacts of discarded plastic bags on marine assemblages and ecosystem functioning." Environmental Science & Technology. Vol 49. 2015 at 5380.
- 90 Royer, Sarah-Jeanne et al. "Production of methane and ethylene from plastic in the environment." *PLoS ONE.* Vol. 13, No. 8. August 2018 at 1 to 2.
- 91 Scherer, Christian et al. "Interactions of Microplastics With Freshwater Biota." In Wagner, Martin and Scott Lambert (Eds.). (2018). Freshwater Microplastics: Emerging Environmental Contaminants? Cham, Switzerland: Springer Nature at 160; Rist, Sinja and Nanna Bloch Hartmann. "Aquatic Ecotoxicity of Microplastics and Nanoplastics: Lessons Learned From Engineered Nanomaterials." In Wagner and Lambert (Eds.) (2018) at 35; Eriksen, Marcus et al. "Microplastic: What Are the Solutions?" In Wagner and Lambert (Eds.) (2018) at 277; Yamashita, Rei et al. "Physical and chemical effects of ingested plastic debris on short-tailed shearwaters, Puffinus tenuirostris, in the North Pacific Ocean." Marine Pollution Bulletin. Vol. 62. 2011 at 2845 and 2848.
- 92 Rist and Hartmann (2018) at 25, 27 and 28; Klein, Sascha et al. "Analysis, Occurrence, and Degradation of Microplastics in the Aqueous Environment." In Wagner and Lambert (Eds.) (2018) at 58, 59 and 62; Jamieson, Alan J. et al. "Bioaccumulation of persistent organic pollutants in the deepest ocean fauna." Nature Ecology & Evolution. Vol. 1, No. 51. February 2017 at 1 to 3.
- 93 Eriksen, Marcus et al. "Plastic pollution in the world's oceans: More than 5 trillion plastic pieces weighing over 250,000 tons afloat at sea." *PLoS ONE.* Vol. 9, Iss. 12. 2014 at 1.
- 94 Cunningham, Sheryl. "The story of an emerging energy issue: National television news coverage of fracking in the United States." *Environmental Communication*. Vol. 12. 2018 at 5, 10, 11 and 13; Lave, Rebecca and Brian Lutz. "Hydraulic fracturing: A critical physical geography review." *Geography Compass*. Vol. 8, No. 10. 2014 at 747; Sica, Carlo E. and Matthew Huber. "We can't be dependent on anybody': The rhetoric of 'energy independence' and the legitimation of fracking in Pennsylvania." *The Extractive Industries and Society*. Vol. 4, Iss. 2. 2017 at 1 and 2.
- 95 EIA. "The United States Is Projected to Become a Net Energy Exporter in Most AEO-2018 Cases." February 12, 2018.
- 96 Wheeler, Timothy B. "Natural gas export eyed for bay site." Baltimore Sun. February 11, 2012; Abrahamian (2017) at 671; Cama, Timothy. "Energy Department wants to speed 'small-scale' natural gas exports." The Hill. September 1, 2017; Gstalter, Morgan. "Perry calls global moves to shift from fossil fuels 'immoral'." The Hill. March 8, 2018.
- 97 Tuladhar, Sugandha D. et al. NERA Economic Consulting. Prepared for DOE. "Macroeconomic Outcomes of Market Determined Levels of U.S. LNG Exports." June 7, 2018 at 21.

- 98 EIA. U.S. Natural Gas Exports and Re-Exports by Point of Exit. August 31, 2018.
- 99 Dixon, Sean T. "Deepwater liquefied natural gas ports and the shifting U.S. liquefied natural gas market." Ocean and Coastal Law Journal. Vol. 17, No. 1. Article 2. 2011 at 3, 4 and 23; Parfomak, Paul W. U.S. Congressional Research Service. "Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG) Infrastructure Security: Background and Issues for Congress." RL32073. September 9, 2003 at CRS-2.
- 100 Behr, Peter. "Higher gas price sets stage for LNG." *Washington Post.* July 5, 2003.
- 101 Corkhill, Mike. "Cove Point loads its inaugural export cargo, on its 40th birthday." *LNG World Shipping*. March 8, 2018; Phillips, Susan. "Dominion's Cove Point plant preparing to export LNG." *NPR StateImpact Pennsylvania*. December 27, 2017; Alfaro, Laura, Richard H. K. Vietor and Hilary White. Harvard Business School. "The U.S. Shale Revolution: Global Rebalancing?" (9-714-008.) March 13, 2014 at 1 and 2.
- 102 Sickinger, Ted. "Behind the fight for an Oregon LNG site." Portland Oregonian. May 4, 2008; Martin, Mark. "Liquefied gas' future in hands of next governor." San Francisco Chronicle. October 16, 2006; Thompson (2016); Bridge, Gavin and Michael Bradshaw. "Making a global gas market: Territoriality and production networks in liquefied natural gas." Economic Geography. Vol. 93, No. 3. 2017 at 227 and 228; Kilzer, Lou. "Feds OK export of liquefied natural gas." Pittsburgh Tribune-Review. May 21, 2011.
- 103 Loris (2013) at 1 and 3; API (2014) at 15.
- 104 Jaganathan, Jessica. "U.S. Cove Point LNG terminal begins commercial LNG deliveries: Data." *Reuters*. April 16, 2018.
- 105 Gelsi, Steve. "Shale gas opens door to U.S. LNG exports." *MarketWatch*. December 5, 2011; Mobila, Michael. EIA. "The United States exported more natural gas than it imported in 2017." *Today in Energy*. March 19, 2018.
- 106 Cama (2017); Gstalter (2018); Grandoni, Dino. "The energy 202: Sens. Cantwell and Murkowski generally get along. But caribou have gotten in the way." *Washington Post*. October 20, 2017.
- 107 Siciliano, John and Josh Siegel. "Daily on Energy, presented by GAIN: Climate change, Saudi tensions to greet Trump at G20." *Washington Examiner*. November 29, 2018; Gstalter (2018).
- 108 Mooney, Chris and Damian Paletta. "Top Trump adviser calls for revising controversial natural gas project on Oregon's coast." Washington Post. April 21, 2017; U.S. Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC). Order Denying Applications for Certificate and Section 3 Authorization. Docket Nos. CP13-483-000 and CP13-492-000. March 11, 2016 at note 4 at 2 and 3, 11, 16 and 17.
- 109 DOE. "Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG)." Available at https://www. energy.gov/fe/science-innovation/oil-gas/liquefied-natural-gas. Accessed November 2018 and on file with Food & Water Watch.
- 110 *Ibid*.
- 111 15 U.S.C. § 717b; Bordoff, Jason and Sam Walsh. "How might a US-Mexico trade conflict affect trade in natural gas?" *Global Trade.* February 23, 2017.
- 112 Krauss, Clifford and Azam Ahmed. "Trump's anti-NAFTA stance is on a collision course with natural gas." *New York Times*. June 26, 2017.
- 113 Whalen, Jeanne. "Trump's USMCA delivers big wins to drugmakers, oil companies and tech firms." *Washington Post*. October 2, 2018.
- 114 Murphy, T. "U.S. shale gas trends Economic and global implications." *Journal of Physics: Conference Series.* Vol. 745. 2016 at 10.
- 115 FERC. "North American LNG Import/Export Terminals. Existing." July 2, 2018; DOE. "Long Term Applications Received by the DOE/ FE to Export. Domestically Produced LNG From the Lower-48 States." December 10, 2018.
- 116 Zaretskaya, Victoria. EIA. "U.S. liquefied natural gas exports quadrupled in 2017." *Today in Energy*. March 27, 2018; EIA. "An-

nual Energy Outlook 2019." January 24, 2019 at Table-14 Oil and Gas Supply.

- 117 PJM Interconnection. [Press release]. "PJM prepared to ensure a reliable grid during August solar eclipse." July 31, 2017; U.S. Census Bureau. "Current Population Survey, 2018 Annual Social and Economic Supplement." November 2018. Table HH-1; Power and Natural Gas Planning Task Force. "Natural Gas-Electricity Primer." August 2012 at 14.
- 118 Zaretskaya (2018).
- 119 Ibid.
- 120 Tuladhar et al. (2018) at 14; Hodge, Tyler. EIA. "Natural gasfired generating capacity likely to increase over next two years." *Today in Energy*. January 30, 2017; Power and Natural Gas Planning Task Force (2012) at 5; EIA (2019) at Table 14 Oil and Gas Supply.
- 121 Collins, Ryan. "LNG has become a White House favorite for promoting energy jobs." *Bloomberg Government*. April 26, 2017; Krauss, Clifford. "Trump administration's push for gas exports faces market glut." *New York Times*. May 1, 2017; Murphy (2016) at 7.
- 122 EIA. "Natural Gas Weekly Update." February 25, 2016.
- 123 Roche, Walter F., Jr. "Doors opened for gas firm tied to Neil Bush." Los Angeles Times. October 29, 2004; The Abraham Group. [Press release]. "Cheniere Energy engages The Abraham Group." October 21, 2005; Kilzer (2011); FERC. [Press release]. "FERC approves LNG export project." April 16, 2012.
- 124 Cheniere Energy Inc. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). Form 10-K. Fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 at 124; Deutch, John. "Obama's second-term energy policy is working." *Wall Street Journal*. August 18, 2014; Massachusetts Institute of Technology. "The Future of Natural Gas." June 6, 2011 at v; Cheniere Energy Inc. Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders. April 24, 2015 at 6 to 9; Cleco Corporation. [Press release]. "Cleck adds Vicky A. Baily to its board of directors." June 13, 2013.
- 125 Northey, Hannah. "Trump's export push has surprising climate angle." *E&E News*. July 6, 2017.
- 126 Kilzer (2011); FERC (2012).
- 127 Thompson (2016); Zurik, Lee. "Zurik: \$11 billion later, Louisiana's incentives fail to deliver." *Fox 8 Louisiana*. February 5, 2015.
- 128 Sheldrick, Aaron and Osamu Tsukimori. "Japan's Tokyo Gas takes first LNG cargo from Cove Point." *Reuters*. May 21, 2018; Clemente, Jude. "Cove Point becomes 2nd U.S. liquefied natural gas export terminal." *Forbes*. March 6, 2018.
- 129 Weber, Harry. "Dominion Energy's first LNG export departs US Cove Point terminal: Pilots." *S&P Global*. March 2, 2018; Zullo, Robert. "Dominion Energy's Cove Point liquid natural gas facility begins operation." *Richmond Times-Dispatch*. April 10, 2018.
- 130 Parfomak, Paul W. and Aaron M. Flynn. Congressional Research Service. "Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG) Import Terminals: Siting, Safety, and Regulation." (CRS No. RL32205.) January 28, 2004 at 5; Kendrick, Lyle. "Some Calvert County residents question Cove Point LNG tanks." *Capital News Service.* January 31, 2014.
- 131 Yang, Stephanie. "The \$24 billion job: An energy CEO's quest to reshape gas exports; Tellurian CEO Meg Gentle is trying to use the lure of low-cost gas to secure the money needed for the company's plans." *Wall Street Journal*. April 14, 2018; Cook (2017).
- 132 New Fortress Energy LLC. SEC. Form S-1. November 9, 2018 at 41 to 42; Renaissance Capital. [Press release]. "Natural gas and logistics company New Fortress Energy files for a \$100 million IPO." November 9, 2018.
- 133 New Fortress Energy LLC (2018) at 1 and 57.
- 134 Corkhill, Mike. "New Fortress builds on LNG presence with Irish, Mexican projects." *LNG World Shipping*. September 4, 2018; New Fortress Energy LLC (2018) at 4 to 5.
- 135 Zaretskaya, Victoria and Kristen Tsai. EIA. "U.S. liquefied natural gas exports have increased as new facilities come online." *Today in Energy*. December 7, 2017.

- 136 Zaretskaya and Tsai (2017); EIA (2019) at Table 14.
- 137 "Propane boom pits U.S. exports against home heat." *Bloomberg.* November 24, 2013.
- 138 Blewitt, Laura. "The U.S. is exporting oil and gas at a record pace." *Bloomberg*. December 12, 2017.
- 139 Energy Transfer Partners. [Press release]. "Energy Transfer announces a new Gulf Coast ethane export facility ('Orbit')." March 15, 2018.
- 140 Davis, Carolyn. "Enterprise snaps up Houston Ship Channel site to propel global NGL expansion." *Natural Gas Intelligence*. April 12, 2018.
- 141 Ineos Olefins & Polymers Europe. [Press release]. "Ineos Europe and Evergas enter into long-term shipping agreements." January 23, 2013; Brice, Andy. ICIS. "Voyage of Discovery." In "Ineos Rides the Shale Wave." *Ineos Supplement*. April 11-17, 2016 at 3; Ineos AG. "Ineos signs second deal to ship more ethane to Europe and orders more ships." *Inch Magazine*. Iss. 6. 2014 at 30.
- 142 Ineos Olefins & Polymers Europe. [Press release]. "Ineos Intrepid leaves USA carrying first shale gas shipment to Europe." March 9, 2016; Davies, Rob. "First shipment of fracked shale gas set to arrive in UK." *The Guardian* (U.K.). September 27, 2016; Brice, Andy. "Enter the Dragon." *ICIS Special Supplement/ Ineos Supplement*. April 11-16, 2016 at 4; Blum, Jordan. "New dragon ships carry Texas ethane to Europe and beyond. *Houston Chronicle*. September 9, 2016; "Evergas names seventh LNGfueled carrier." *LNG World News*. April 26, 2017.
- 143 Jaramillo, Paulina et al. "Comparative life-cycle air emissions of coal, domestic natural gas, LNG, and SNG for electricity generation." *Environmental Science & Technology*. Vol. 41. 2007 at 6290 and 6294; Dixon (2011) at 20 to 22; Holzer, Kimberly et al. "Potential effects of LNG trade shift on transfer of ballast water and biota by ships." *Science of the Total Environment*. Vol. 580. 2017 at 1470 and 1473; Bosso, Ron. "LNG growth to propel oil and gas industry's carbon emissions — WoodMac." *Reuters*. September 20, 2017.
- 144 EPA. Enforcement and Compliance History Online (ECHO) database. Available at https://echo.epa.gov/. Accessed August 2018.
- 145 *Ibid.*
- 146 Pihl, Kristi. "Update: Evacuation radius near Plymouth plant to be reduced." *Tri-City Herald* (WA). March 31, 2014.
- 147 Pihl (2014); Mandel, Jenny. "Explosive LNG issues grab PHMSA's attention." *E&E News*. June 7, 2016.
- 148 Ehrenfeld, David. "The environmental limits to globalization." *Conservation Biology*. Vol. 19, No. 2. April 2005 at 321.
- 149 Elliot, M.A. et al. U.S. Bureau of Mines. "Report on the Investigation of the Fire at the Liquefaction, Storage, and Regasification Plant of the East Ohio Gas Co., Cleveland, Ohio, October 20, 1944." R.I. 3867. February 1946 at 3.
- 150 EIA. "Electric Power Annual 2017." October 22, 2018 at Table 4.5.
- 151 Hodge (2017).
- 152 PJM Interconnection (2017); U.S. Census Bureau. "Current Population Survey, 2018 Annual Social and Economic Supplement." November 2018. Table HH-1.
- 153 Shelor, Jeremiah. "PJM capacity auction reflecting impact of cheap Marcellus/Utica natural gas." Natural Gas Intelligence. May 24, 2017; "Gas glut reckoning." Energy Times. May 23, 2017; Nikolewski, Rob. "Natural gas is energy's new king — but how long will it reign? California may offer some clues." San Diego Union-Tribune. January 14, 2018.
- 154 Food & Water Watch analysis of operating gas generators from EIA Form EIA-860. September 13, 2018. Available at www.eia. gov/electricity/data/eia860/. Accessed November 2018.
- 155 Howarth, Robert W. et al. "Methane and the greenhouse-gas footprint of natural gas from shale formations." *Climatic Change.* April 2011 at 679, 687 and 688; Howarth, Robert W. "A bridge to

nowhere: Methane emissions and the greenhouse gas footprint of natural gas." *Energy Science & Engineering*. 2014 at 1 and 2; Jackson, Robert B. et al. "Natural gas pipeline leaks across Washington, DC." *Environmental Science & Technology*. Vol. 48, Iss. 3. January 2014 at 2051; Lavoie, Tegan N. et al. "Assessing the methane emissions from natural gas-fired power plants and oil refineries." *Environmental Science & Technology*. Vol. 52. February 21, 2017 at 3373.

- 156 S&P Global Market Intelligence. "Report: Natural gas and renewables will account for all generation-capacity additions in the U.S. this year." January 30, 2018.
- 157 EIA (October 22, 2018) at Table 4.5.
- 158 Ailworth, Erin. "Power plants bloom even as electricity prices wilt." Wall Street Journal. December 28, 2017; Napsha, Joe. "Natural gas-fueled power plants on rise." Pittsburgh Tribune-Review. January 26, 2018; "Marcellus Shale boom could return." Observer-Reporter (Washington, PA). April 20, 2016; Smith Hopkins, Jamie. "Big power plant ignites political fight in small Pennsylvania town." NPR StateImpact Pennsylvania. November 2, 2017.
- 159 Kaufmann, Robert K. and Edward Hines. "The effects of combined-cycle generation and hydraulic fracturing on the price for coal, oil, and natural gas: Implications for carbon taxes." *Energy Policy.* Vol. 118. 2018 at 603 and 604.
- 160 Shearer, Christine et al. "The effect of natural gas supply on US renewable energy and CO2 emissions." *Environmental Research Letters*. Vol. 9. September 24, 2014 at 1 to 9; Lazarus, Michael et al. Stockholm Environment Institute. "Natural Gas: Guardrails for a Potential Climate Bridge." May 2015 at 5 to 6; Erickson, Peter et al. "Assessing carbon lock-in." *Environmental Research Letters*. Vol. 10. 2015 at 1 and 4.
- 161 Kaufman and Hines (2018) at 603 and 604.
- 162 EIA. "US Natural Gas Deliveries to Electric Power Consumers." February 28, 2019. Available at https://www.eia.gov/dnav/ng/ hist/n3045us2m.htm.
- 163 EIA. "Short Term Energy Outlook." April 2018 at 2 and 3.
- 164 Ailworth (2017); Napsha, Joe. "Natural gas-fueled power plants on rise." *Pittsburgh Tribune-Review*. January 26, 2018; "Marcellus Shale boom could return." (2016); Smith Hopkins (2017); Shalizi (2009) at 4 to 6.
- 165 EIA. "Many natural gas-fired power plants under construction are near major shale plays." May 19, 2016.
- 166 EIA. "Natural gas-fired reciprocating engines are being deployed more to balance renewables." February 19, 2019.
- 167 Shelor (2017).
- 168 Food & Water Watch. "Pernicious Placement of Pennsylvania Power Plants." June 2018 at 2 and 17; "Crews prepare Jessup power plant site for first turbine's arrival." Scranton Times-Tribune (PA). December 4, 2016.
- 169 "First turbine to arrive at new Salem plant." Wilkes-Barre Times Leader (PA). February 17, 2017; Gibbons, Brendan. "Details emerge on Jessup natural gas plant." Scranton Times-Tribune (PA). October 30, 2014; PPL Electric Utilities. "Project Compass." Available at www.pplelectric.com/reliability/reliability-projects/ compass.aspx. Accessed February 2018; Phillips, Susan. "New natural gas plant to replace shuttered coal facility in Snyder County." NPR StateImpact Pennsylvania. October 28, 2015.
- 170 EIA. "Pennsylvania Electricity Profile 2015." Updated July 20, 2017 at Table 8 and Table 10.
- 171 Tomich, Jeffrey. "Ohio gas plant developers primed to seize King Coal's crown." *E&E News.* September 14, 2017.
- 172 Ibid.
- 173 Ibid.
- 174 Krohn, John and Katie Teller. EIA. "New pipeline projects increase Northeast natural gas takeaway capacity." January 28, 2016; Upchurch, Jason et al. EIA. "New England natural gas pipe-

line capacity increases for the first time since 2010." December 6, 2016; EIA. Natural Gas Marketed Production. Form EIA-914. "Monthly Natural Gas Production Report." February 28, 2019; Opalka, Bill. "New England's last coal-fired power plants face uncertain futures." *Energy News Network*. August 16, 2018.

- 175 Kuffner, Alex. "Plans for controversial Burrillville power plant pushed back a year." *Providence Journal*. July 10, 2017; Kuffner, Alex. "Century-old state law may decide case involving Invenergy, Burrillville, Johnston and the future of energy in Rhode Island." *Providence Journal*. August 20, 2018.
- 176 Maloney, Peter. "Diamond Generating wins key permits for \$1.5B gas plant to power NYC." *Utility Dive.* July 10, 2018; Fallon, Scott. "New power plant for Meadowlands? Company wants to make electricity in NJ for NYC." Northjersey.com. April 10, 2018; Krohn and Teller (2016).
- 177 Cocklin, Jamison. "Developer planning 1,200 MW natgas-fired power plant in New Jersey." *Natural Gas Intelligence*. April 12, 2018.
- 178 Proctor, Darrell. "Proposed power plant sparks debate in New Jersey." *POWER*. April 12, 2018.
- 179 Kassab, Beth and Kevin Spear. "Gas pipeline across Central Florida brings cheap energy and protests." *Orlando Sentinel*. April 3, 2017.
- 180 Hopkins, Jamie Smith and Kristen Lombardi. Center for Public Integrity. "Sunshine State lags on solar power, doubles down on natural gas." *Florida Today*. December 8, 2017; Salisbury, Susan. "Pipeline foes to line Trump route today; Environment groups oppose Sabal Trail, a controversial Alabama-to-Florida pipeline." *Palm Beach Post*. February 12, 2017.
- 181 Hopkins and Lombardi (2017).
- 182 Ibid.
- 183 FERC. Final Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement. "Southeast Market Pipelines Project." (FERC EIS 0279F.) February 2018 at 1 and 3 to 4.
- 184 Hopkins and Lombardi (2017); Carollo, Malena. "Duke Energy quietly builds a \$1.5 billion plant in Citrus County." *Tampa Bay Times*. July 27, 2017.
- 185 Scott, Alwyn. "General Electric's power unit fights for growth as wind, solar gain." *Reuters*. May 24, 2018.
- 186 Brown, T.W. et al. "Response to 'Burden of proof: A comprehensive review of the feasibility of 100% renewable-electricity systems." *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*. Vol. 92. 2018 at 834 to 835 and 842.
- 187 Penn, Ivan and Ryan Menezes. "Californians are paying billions for power they don't need." *Los Angeles Times*. February 5, 2017.
- 188 Nikolewski (2018); Scauzillo, Steve. "What is the future of gas power plants in California? Grayson Power Plant in Glendale might be a test case." San Gabriel Valley Tribune. April 9, 2018; Nemec, Richard. "Three NRG gas-fired power plants closing in California." Natural Gas Intelligence. March 14, 2018; Nuccitelli, Dana. "Natural gas killed coal — Now renewables and batteries are taking over." The Guardian (U.K.). January 29, 2018.
- 189 Erickson et al. (2015) at 1 and 4; Davis, Steven and Christine Shearer. "A crack in the natural-gas bridge." *Nature*. Vol. 514, Iss. 7253. 2014 at 1.
- 190 Howarth et al. (2011) at 679, 687 and 688; Howarth (2014) at 1 and 2; Jackson et al. (2014) at 2051; Lavoie et al. (2017) at 3373.
- 191 The Texas Eastern Transmission pipeline was built during World War II and still is a major Gulf Coast to East Coast gas transmission route; Texas Eastern Transmission Corp. "The Big Inch and Little Big Inch Pipelines." 2000 at 1 to 2; Enbridge Inc. U.S. SEC. Filing 10-K. Fiscal year ending December 31, 2017 at 20; Food & Water Watch analysis of EIA data from EIA-860 2016. The average age of U.S. gas-fired power generators is 26 years, but 743 (13 percent) began operating before 1970, fifty years ago, and the oldest gas plant went online in 1915.

- 192 International Energy Agency. "Energy and Air Pollution: World Energy Outlook Special Report." 2016 at 43 and 227; California Environmental Protection Agency. Air Resources Board. Stationary Sources Division. "Report to the Legislature: Gas-fired Power Plant NOx Emission Controls and Related Environmental Impacts." May 2004 at 6; Massetti (2017) at 7, 11 and 12; EPA, Clean Air Markets Division, Office of Air and Radiation. "Acid Rain Program. 2005 Progress Report." (EPA-430-R-06-015.) October 2006 at 2; EPA. [Presentation]. "Overview of the human health and environmental effects of power generation: Focus on sulfur dioxide (SO2), nitrogen oxides (NOx) and Mercury (Hg)." June 2002 at slides 5 and 6.
- 193 Ericson, J.E. and P.G. Pham. "Radon levels in combustion stream of a natural gas incinerator power plant." *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*. Vol. 66, Iss. 1. 2001 at 59; Tsyplenkov, V. International Atomic Energy Agency. "Electricity production and waste management: Comparing the options." *International Atomic Energy Agency Bulletin*. 1993 at 29.
- 194 EPA. "A Citizen's Guide to Radon. The Guide to Protecting Yourself and Your Family From Radon." (EPA-402/K-12/002.) May 2012 at 3; Khan, M.S.A. "Study of radon gas diffusion and its permeability through some building construction materials by using SSNTD technique." *International Journal of Science and Research.* Vol. 6, Iss. 3. March 2017 at 1599; World Health Organization.
 "WHO Handbook on Indoor Radon: A Public Health Perspective." 2009 at 1.
- 195 Physicians, Scientists and Engineers for Healthy Energy. "Natural Gas Power Plants in California's Disadvantaged Communities." April 2017 at 1; Wilson (2012) at 15; Boyce, James K. and Manuel Pastor. "Clearing the air: Incorporating air quality and environmental justice into climate policy." *Climatic Change*. Vol. 120, No.

4. August 2013 at 803; Faber, Daniel R. and Eric J. Krieg. A report by Philanthropy and Environmental Justice Research Project Northeastern University. "Unequal Exposure to Ecological Hazards 2005: Environmental Injustices in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts." October 12, 2005 at 8.

- 196 Physicians, Scientists, and Engineers for Healthy Energy (2017) at 2.
- 197 Food & Water Watch (2018) at findings and 6.
- 198 Chignell, Simon and Dr. Robert Gross. Imperial College Center for Energy Policy and Technology. "Not Locked-in? The Overlooked Impact of New Gas-fired Generation Investment on Long-term Decarbonisation — A Case Study of Lock-in to New CCGT in the UK." ICEPT Working Paper Ref: ICEPT/WP/2010/012. May 2012 at 10; Shearer (2014) at 1 to 9; Erickson et al. (2015) at 1 and 4.
- 199 Murphy (2016) at 1 and 6; Southern Environmental Law Center. [Press release]. "Study: Proposed interstate natural gas pipelines not needed." September 22, 2016; Peng, Wei. Princeton University. "How Would Shale Gas Influence the Investment in Renewables? A Perspective From Price and Price Risks in Gas and Electricity Market." January 2012 at 1 and 6; Jackson, Robert B. et al. Duke University, Center on Global Change. "Research and Policy Recommendations for Hydraulic Fracturing and Shale-gas Extraction." 2011 at 2; Jackson et al. (2014) at 2051.
- 200 Pfeiffer (2016) at 4; Rozenberg, Julie et al. World Bank. "Transition to Clean Capital, Irreversible Investment and Stranded Assets." Policy Research Working Paper 6859. May 2014 at Abstract.
- 201 Unruh, Gregory and Javier Carrillo-Hermosilla. "Globalizing carbon lock-in." *Energy Policy.* Vol. 34. 2006 at 1186; Brown et al. (2018) at 834 and 842.

More Food & Water Watch Research on Energy and the Environment



Another Petrochemical Sacrifice Zone: Proposed Appalachian Gas "Cluster" Would Pollute Region and Entrench Fossil Fuel and Plastics Infrastructure for Decades

The proposed Appalachian storage complex may be a profit bonanza for industry, but it is a pollution pitfall for communities and ecosystems in the area. Converting the region into the second largest concentration of plastics and chemical manufacturing outside the highly polluted Gulf Coast will compound the Tri-State area's already substantial exposure to industrial toxic emissions, while increasing plastic materials that largely end up polluting the earth's oceans.



Pernicious Placement of Pennsylvania Power Plants: Natural Gas-Fired Power Plant Boom Reinforces Environmental Injustice

Power plants have long been disproportionately located near disadvantaged communities. Now, energy companies in Pennsylvania have begun building natural gas-fired power plants that will reinforce the historic environmental injustice of the state's existing fossil fuel-fired power plants. The surge in power plant construction locks in reliance on dirty fossil fuels, encourages more destructive fracking and contributes to increased climate pollution.



The Trans-Atlantic Plastics Pipeline How Pennsylvania's Fracking Boom Crosses the Atlantic

America's oil and gas rush is now coming to Europe, polluting both sides of the pond – contributing to climate change and threatening coastal wildlife. The boom, combined with low-priced fossil fuel-based natural gas, also spawned a resurgence in North American petrochemical and plastics manufacturing, and the pollution that comes with it.



The Urgent Case for a Ban on Fracking

Fracking, or "hydraulic fracturing," is a dangerous process that brings a host of problems. This comprehensive report details the facts on fracking and the many reasons why it should be banned.

For more Food & Water Watch research, visit **foodandwaterwatch.org/library**





Fight like you live here.

National Office

1616 P Street, NW Suite 300 Washington, DC 20036 (202) 683-2500 foodandwaterwatch.org